TGEGKXGF. '3214514235'373: 56. 'Vj qo cu'F 0J cm 'Engtm''Uwrtgo g'Eqwtv

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No.: SC13-1549 On a Certified Question from the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Judicial Circuit Case No.: 12-14212

J.R.,

Appellant,

vs.

BARBARA PALMER, Director of Agency for Persons with Disabilities,

Appellee.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS¹

Peter P. Sleasman, Fla. Bar No. 367931 Kristen Cooley Lentz, Fla. Bar No. 649635

Florida Institutional Legal Services Project Florida Legal Services, Inc. 14260 W. Newberry Rd., #412 Newberry, FL 32669 (352) 375-2494 (ph) (352) 331-5202 (fax) peter@floridalegal.org kristen@floridalegal.org

Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND CASE

This case involves a challenge to the constitutionality of Florida's statutory scheme for involuntary civil commitment of persons with intellectual disabilities.¹ As an initial matter, the Appellant adopts the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals' explanation of the statute, Fla. Stat. §393.062 <u>et seq.</u>, and the Court's recitation of the facts regarding Appellant's circumstances. Order at 4-9. Appellant has also included his own overview of the statute and the facts specific to his circumstances, as briefed for the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals, below. References to the record in this brief are to the record on appeal to the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeal and will follow the same citation format used in the appellate briefs there.

Statement of Facts

A. Overview of the Involuntary Civil Commitment Process for Persons with Intellectual Disabilities.

Section 393.11 of the Florida Statutes is Florida's involuntary civil commitment statutory scheme for persons who are intellectually disabled or autistic. Dkt. #41-

2, ¶1. Persons committed under §393.11 are the responsibility of Appellee, the

¹ Effective July 2013, the Legislature passed a law substituting the term "intellectual disability" for "mental retardation" throughout the Florida Statutes. *See* Ch. 2012-162, Laws of Fla. Because this litigation and much of the briefing pre-dated these amendments, many of the references to the statutes in the record use the term "retardation." This Brief cites to the most recent version of the statutes and will use the term intellectual disability.

Director of the Agency for Persons with Disabilities ("APD").² Dkt. #41-2, ¶4. Involuntary admission to residential services can be initiated via petition or motion. Fla. Stat. §393.11; *see also* Fla. Stat. §916.303(2). Once a petition or motion has been filed in the appropriate circuit, the circuit court appoints a committee to examine the person being considered for involuntary admission to residential services. Dkt. #66 at 3; Fla. Stat. §393.11(5). After the examining committee files their report with the court, the court holds an adversarial hearing where the person subject to the commitment proceeding has the right to present evidence and cross-examine all witnesses. Dkt. #66 at 3; Fla. Stat. §393.11(7). The person is also entitled to representation by counsel at all stages of the proceeding. Dkt. #66 at 3; Fla. Stat. §393.11(6).

The court may not enter an order for involuntary admission to residential services unless the court finds, by clear and convincing evidence, that: (1) the person who is the subject of the proceeding is "intellectually disabled" or "autistic," (2) placement in a residential setting is the least restrictive and most appropriate alternative to meet the person's needs, and because of the person's degree of intellectual disability or autism, the person either: (a) lacks sufficient capacity to give consent to a voluntary application for services from Defendant and

² Appellee Barbara Palmer is the current Director of APD. She has been substituted for the former Director, Michael Hansen. Appellee is named in her official capacity as Director of APD.

lacks basic survival and self-care skills to such a degree that close supervision and habilitation in a residential setting is necessary and, if not provided, would result in a real and present threat of substantial harm to the person's well-being, or (b) is likely to physically injure others if allowed to remain at liberty. Dkt. #66 at 3-4; Fla. Stat. §393.11(8).

An involuntary admission order is of indeterminate duration. *See* Fla. Stat. §393.11(11). Unless jurisdiction is transferred to another circuit court, the court which issues the initial order for involuntary admission has continuing jurisdiction to "enter further orders to ensure that the person is receiving adequate care, treatment, habilitation, and rehabilitation, including psychotropic medication and behavioral programming." Dkt. #66 at 5; Fla. Stat. §393.11(11). A person who has been involuntarily admitted to residential services may not be released from such an order except by further order of the circuit court. *Id*.

The statute as written does not provide for any periodic review of orders entered pursuant to its authority. Dkt. #41-2, ¶11; Dkt. #66 at 6; *see generally*, Fla. Stat. §393.11. Nor has Appellee adopted any process by which persons committed pursuant to §393.11 are provided automatic, periodic reviews of their commitment orders by the court who has jurisdiction over the order. Dkt. #41-2, ¶17. The statute provides that any person involuntarily admitted to residential services may

file a petition for writ of habeas corpus to challenge the appropriateness of their commitment. Dkt. #66 at 6; Fla. Stat. §393.11(13).

APD is responsible for creating an individual support plan for each of its clients, *see* §393.0651, Fla. Stat., and for annual review of those plans. *See* §393.0651(7), Fla. Stat.³ This responsibility includes creating support plans for persons committed pursuant to §393.11. Section 393.0651 makes no mention of review or consideration of involuntary admission orders. A support plan may be challenged through the State's administrative hearing process. §393.0651(8). However, a court order entered pursuant to §393.11 cannot be amended or rescinded by a support plan or through the administrative hearing process. Dkt. #66 at 6; *see* §393.11(11).

If an individual charged with a crime is found incompetent to proceed due to an intellectual disability or autism and remains incompetent for two years, the charges may be dismissed and the person involuntarily committed. Dkt. #66 at 2; Fla. Stat. §916.303. A petition for involuntary admission to residential services may be filed pursuant to §393.11 by the state attorney, criminal defense attorney, or APD. Dkt. #66 at 2; Fla. Stat. §916.303(2). If the defendant meets the criteria of §393.11

³ APD provides services to a large number of persons with intellectual disabilities, not just those who have been involuntarily admitted to residential services. *See* Order at 4. To be eligible for APD services, a person must be at least three years of age, must meet residency and domicile requirements, and must have a diagnosis of a specified intellectual disability. See 65G-4015, Fla. Admin. Code.

and also presents a "substantial likelihood" of causing injury to another person or presents a danger of escape and all other less restrictive alternatives are adjudged inappropriate, then the court may commit the defendant to a *secure* facility pursuant to Section 916.303(3), Fla. Stat. Commitment to a secure facility must be reviewed annually by the court at a hearing to determine "whether the defendant continues to meet the criteria described in this subsection and, if so, whether the defendant still requires involuntary placement in a secure facility." §916.303(3). Section 393.11 does not have a similar process.

B. Individual Facts of Appellant, J.R.

J.R. is a person with an intellectual disability. Dkt. #66 at 6. He can read simple sentences but has poor written skills. *Id.* at 6-7. He functions at a 7 year, 1 month level on the Vineland Adaptive Behavior Scale and has a reported IQ of 56 (last tested on March 29, 2001). *Id.* at 7.

In 2000, J.R. was charged with a felony in Lee County, Florida. *Id.* In 2001, after finding J.R. incompetent to stand trial, the Lee County Circuit Court involuntarily committed J.R. to the custody of the Department of Children and Family Services ("DCF") for treatment in DCF's Mentally Retarded Defendant Program. *Id.*

In 2004, lacking evidence to suggest that J.R. would ever become competent to stand trial, the circuit court dismissed the criminal charges against J.R. and—upon

motion filed by J.R.'s attorney—ordered J.R. admitted to "secure" residential services pursuant to §393.11. *Id.* On or about June 22, 2004, after it was determined that the DCF was actually recommending "non-secure" as opposed to "secure" residential services for J.R., an amended motion was filed to involuntarily admit J.R. to non-secure residential services pursuant to §393.11. Dkt. #66 at 7; Dkt. #41-2, ¶19. On or about October 26, 2004, the circuit court in Florida's 20th judicial circuit entered an order involuntarily admitting J.R. to non-secure residential services pursuant to §393.11.⁴ Dkt. #41-2, ¶20. The October 26th order was entered on the basis that J.R. met the criteria set forth in §393.11(8)(b), J.R.'s level of intellectual disability was mild to moderate, and the purpose to be served by residential care was vocational and social skills training. Dkt. #66 at 11; Dkt. #41-2, ¶21.

Since 2004, in compliance with his involuntary placement order, J.R. has and continues to reside at various residential placements. Dkt. #46-2, ¶¶8-9; Dkt. #62. In January 2006, Defendant admitted J.R. to a non-secure program called SEEDS at the developmental services institution in Sunland-Marianna. Dkt. #46-2, ¶¶8-9. In 2007, J.R. was moved to a behavioral focus group home, Positive Images Group

⁴ All responsibilities under DCF's developmental services program, including persons committed pursuant to §393.11, were transferred to Defendant's agency when it was created in 2004. *See generally*, Ch. 2004-267, §87, Laws of Fla.; *see also* Fla. Stat. §20.197. Thus, upon the transfer of responsibilities, APD inherited the responsibility for the custody and care of J.R. while J.R. is under the authority of the §393.11 order. *Id*

Home, in Gainesville, Florida. *Id.* at ¶8. During the pendency of this litigation, J.R. was moved to a less restrictive group home. Dkt. #61, ¶¶3-4; Dkt. #62.

J.R.'s §393.11 order requires him to reside in a non-secure residential setting and receive social and vocational services. Dkt. #66 at 7. The Federal District Court found that J.R.'s behavior analysis services and his group home residence impose stringent rules on him, including a curfew, a ban on alcohol consumption, and other limitations on his freedom of movement. *Id.* at 8. If J.R. violates these rules, then the consequences include loss in the freedoms he has gained, being subjected to greater supervision, and potentially being placed in a more restrictive setting. *Id.* at 10. If J.R. elopes from his group home placement, then the police may be called to return him to his group home. Dkt. ##41-2, ¶9; 46-2, ¶13; 46-3, ¶11.

Although J.R.'s intellectual disability will always exist, his potential for dangerousness or harm to self or others can change. Dkt. #41-2, ¶25. J.R. can also develop skills that mitigate the effect of his disability and aid him in his ability to live independently. *Id.* at ¶26. When Respondent was notified that J.R.'s condition potentially changed such that a different residential setting was warranted, Respondent refused to take action to help J.R. seek court review and, instead, made it J.R.'s responsibility to obtain assistance on his own. (*Id.* at Appx. #7 at 00004-8; Dkt. #66 at 11. The circuit court has not held a single hearing in regard to J.R.'s commitment since June 2005. Dkt. #41-2, ¶28. J.R.'s commitment order does not contain an end date, and J.R. will continue to live under its demands until the circuit court determines it is no longer necessary. Dkt. #66 at 23; Dkt. #41-2, ¶¶22, 29.

Course of Proceedings

In August 2011, Appellant, J.R., brought this action in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Florida pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983 to redress violations of his due process rights guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.⁵ Dkt. #1. The Complaint sought declaratory and injunctive relief against Michael Hansen, in his official capacity, as Director of APD. *Id.* J.R. asked the District Court to find that Section 393.11 of the Florida Statutes, which governs the involuntary residential placement of individuals with developmental disabilities, violated the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. *Id.* at 7.

Defendant moved to dismiss the Complaint on the grounds that it failed to state a cause of action. Dkt. #10. The District Court denied the Motion. Dkt. #29. The parties then engaged in discovery.

On February 17, 2012, the parties filed their respective Motions for Summary Judgment. Dkt. ##41&44. J.R. responded to Defendant's Motion. Dkt. #46. The

⁵ Appellant, JR, is a person with an intellectual disability. He asked and was granted permission to proceed anonymously. Dkt. ##13&14.

parties also filed statements of material facts. Dkt. #41-2 & 53. The District Court took the Motions under consideration. On May 23, 2012, the District Court granted the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment and dismissed the case. Dkt. #66. Final judgment was entered on the same date. Dkt. #67. J.R. filed a timely Motion for Reconsideration asserting, in part, that the District Court had based its Order on Summary Judgment on an argument that had not been made or briefed by the parties. Dkt. #70. The District Court denied the Motion for Reconsideration on July 13, 2012. Dkt. #74. J.R. then filed his Notice of Appeal on August 10, 2012. Dkt. #75.

Appellant appealed to the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals. After briefing and oral arguments, the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals, *sua sponte*, certified the following three questions to the Florida Supreme Court:

(1) Does "support plan" review under Fla. Stat. §393.0651 require the Agency for Persons with Disabilities to consider the propriety of a continued involuntary admission to residential services order entered under Fla. Stat. 393.11?

(2) Is the Agency for Persons with Disabilities required, pursuant to Fla. Stat. 393.0651 and/or Fla. Stat. 393.11, to petition the circuit court for the release from involuntary admission order in cases where APD determines the circumstances that led to the initial admission order have changed?

(3) Does Fla. Stat. 393.062 <u>et seq.</u> provide a statutory mandate to meaningfully periodically review involuntary admissions to non-secure residential services consistent with the commitment schemes discussed in *Parham v. J.R.*, 442 U.S. 584 (1979) and *Williams v. Wallis*, 734 F.2d 1434 (11th Cir. 1984)?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals determined that there was substantial doubt about the scope of APD's obligations under Chapter 393. The Court found that the doubt had to be resolved in order to determine whether Florida law provides J.R. with a meaningful periodic review of his involuntary admission order as required by principles of due process. In order to decide the case, the Court certified three questions regarding the requirements of Chapter 393 to this Honorable Court.

The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals opinion found that there is no <u>explicit</u> requirement in Chapter 393 which require a periodic review of the propriety of the continued order of involuntary admission to residential services. The certified questions essentially ask this Honorable Court to determine whether, in spite of the obvious textual omission of the requirements of procedural due process, the statute can be interpreted to meet the requirements of due process. J.R. respectfully asserts that all three answers should be "no."

Fundamental statutory construction principles guide the resolution of these questions. A statute should be construed so as not to conflict with the Constitution when reasonably possible. Such construction, however, must be consistent with the legislative intent ascertainable from the statute itself or its common sense application. The courts do not have the power to edit statutes so as to add

requirements that the Legislature did not include. J.R. contends that the provisions in Chapter 393 and §393.11 are not ambiguous and that the omissions of periodic review of involuntary admission orders was deliberate.

The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals opinion sets out four principles of procedural due process that guide this case: First, "some form of periodic review" of the involuntary commitment order is required to protect against the erroneous deprivation of liberty. Second, where medical professionals are well positioned and mandated to consider the propriety of ongoing commitment, adversarial judicial review is not necessary to protect against the erroneous deprivation of liberty. Third, where medical professionals are well positioned and mandated to act when an ongoing commitment is no longer proper, adversarial judicial review is not necessary to protect against the erroneous deprivation of liberty. And, finally, the availability of judicial review through habeas corpus serves only as a backup plan to protect against the erroneous deprivation of liberty. It is against these principles that the State's involuntary commitment process must be measured.

Chapter 393 does not explicitly require or mandate any of the procedures set out in the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals' guiding principles. Section 393.11 states that only the admitting court can terminate an involuntary admission order. However, §393.11 does not contain any provision for periodic review or

termination of the order by the court. None of the other provisions in Chapter 393 meet the requirements of a meaningful periodic review. The support plan review process in §393.0651 does not even mention review of the involuntary admission order. Nothing in the support plan review process mandates a consideration of the propriety of ongoing commitment. In addition, nothing in Chapter 393 requires APD to act or to petition the committing court if it is somehow determined that involuntary admission is no longer necessary. Finally, habeas corpus is the only means of obtaining termination of an involuntary admission order and is not just a "backup" procedure.

The provisions of Chapter 393 do not meet the due process requirements set out by the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals opinion and the answer to all three questions should be "no."

ARGUMENT

Introduction

Both the Federal District Court and the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals found that involuntary admission to residential services pursuant to §393.11 is a form of commitment that constitutes a loss of liberty. *See* Order at Fn. 9. They also agreed that due process requires involuntary admission to be terminated as soon as it is no longer necessary. *Id.*; *See O'Connor v. Donaldson*, 422 U.S. 563, 574-75 (1975)(finding that even if involuntary confinement was initially permissible, it could not constitutionally continue after that basis no longer existed). In order to insure that the deprivation of liberty does not continue beyond that which is necessary, the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals found that J.R. is entitled to a meaningful periodic review of the involuntary commitment order. *See* Order at 10-11. J.R. contends that the statute, both on its face and as applied to him, denies him his due process right to such a review.⁶

The Federal District Court found the state involuntary admission statute constitutional based on an implied obligation on APD to petition the state circuit

⁶ J.R. agrees that a non-adversarial, non-judicial process may satisfy due process if that process includes the authority to terminate the involuntary admission order. In Florida's statutory scheme, only the admitting court has the authority to terminate the admission order. §393.11(11), Fla. Stat. Therefore, the review and termination procedure must directly involve the admitting court. However the statute could be amended to provide for a non-adversarial process if it included a revew by a decision maker with the authority to terminate the order.

court if it were to determine that involuntary admission is no longer necessary. *Id.* at 27. On appeal, J.R. argued that there was no statutory basis for such an implied obligation and APD never asserted that such an obligation existed. Appellant's Principal Brief at 30-35. In addition, even if there were such an implied obligation, it did not meet the requirements of due process. *Id.* The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals, hesitant about making determinations and interpretations regarding Florida law, certified the questions regarding Chapter 393 to this Honorable Court. Order at 28-29. The certified questions essentially ask this Honorable Court to determine whether, in spite of the obvious textual omission of the requirements of procedural due process, the statute can be interpreted to meet the requirements of due process.

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