TGEGKXGF. '33B: 14235'35-65-56. 'Iqj p'C0Vqo cukpq. 'Engtm'Uwrtgo g'Eqwtv

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO.: SC13-1549

J.R.,

Appellant,

v.

BARBARA PALMER, in her official capacity as Director of the Agency for Persons with Disabilities,

Appellee.

On a Certified Question from the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit, Case No. 12-14212

APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF

Juan Collins (FBN 624209) Agency for Persons with Disabilities 4030 Esplanade Way, Suite 380 Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0950 Juan.Collins@apdcares.org (850) 414-2232 (850) 410-0665 (fax) PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Plaintiff initiated this action seeking periodic review of his commitment. The district court specifically found that Chapter 393 provides him that periodic review. Plaintiff nonetheless appealed the order, requesting the Eleventh Circuit invalidate section 393.11. If Plaintiff were to prevail, he would presumably seek a *different* order requiring that same periodic review. This Court is now being asked to determine whether the ongoing review that Plaintiff is entitled to receive is already present within Chapter 393—as Judge Stafford found—or whether Florida's scheme for involuntarily admitting persons with development disabilities to APD services must be stricken and revised. Whether the statute is upheld or falls, the result for Plaintiff will be the same—an entitlement to periodic review.

As is apparent below, there is no need for the Eleventh Circuit to invalidate the statute to fashion the relief of a periodic ongoing review because such a review currently exists in the statutory scheme. The provisions in section 393.0651, Florida Statutes, require that an individualized—and annually revised—support plan regularly assess the propriety of a continued residential placement. The support plan obligations confirm that a constitutional and meaningful ongoing review of an involuntary residential placement should already occur. Because a

5

support plan must reflect the habilitation objectives for each particular client, the plan for an involuntarily admitted client would inherently and logically have to reconsider each year the guidelines for continuing an involuntary commitment.

That these requirements are not explicitly stated is of no moment. Even when a statute is not ambiguous, it may be construed to contain implicit requirements when a plain reading of the statutory text and logic so dictate. Once it is recognized that a statute may indeed contain implicit obligations, it becomes clear that all of the Eleventh Circuit's statutory interpretation questions should be answered affirmatively. Properly interpreted, section 393.0651 provides adequate due process protections.

ARGUMENT

Contrary to Plaintiff's arguments, and consistent with the federal district court's decision, Florida's tenets of statutory construction allow statutes to contain implicit requirements when logic and legislative intent so dictate. The Eleventh Circuit's three questions all stem from the singular concern of whether a statute may have "implied obligations not explicit on the face of the statute." (Op. at 28.) For the reasons below, a statute may contain implicit obligations, and the Eleventh Circuit's three certified questions should be answered affirmatively.

I. Statutes Can Contain Implicit Requirements.

When construing a state statute, the "guiding purpose" of this Court is "to

give effect to the Legislature's intent." *Goble v. Frohman*, 901 So. 2d 830, 832 (Fla. 2005); *accord Kasischke v. State*, 991 So. 2d 803, 807 (Fla. 2008) ("When construing a statute, we strive to effectuate the Legislature's intent."). The first place that the Court must look to discern the Legislature's intent is the plain language of the statute. *Kasischke*, 991 So. 2d at 807. If a statute is clear and unambiguous, the Court has "no occasion to resort to rules of construction" unless failure to do so "leads to an unreasonable result or a result clearly contrary to legislative intent." *Daniels v. Fla. Dep't of Health*, 898 So. 2d 61, 64-65 (Fla. 2005).

The plain language rule does not mean that the Court is "required to abandon either [its] common sense or principles of logic." *Sch. Bd. of Palm Beach Cnty. v. Survivors Charter Sch., Inc.*, 3 So. 3d 1220, 1235 (Fla. 2009). Rather, because it can be presumed that the Legislature intends to serve the best interests of the people, the Court has an "obligation to construe provisions of legislative acts consistent with the basic tenets of fairness and due process." *Id.*; *Abood v. City of Jacksonville*, 80 So. 2d 444, 445 (Fla. 1955) ("We are entitled to, and should, ascribe to the acts of the members of the lawmaking body a purpose to serve the best interest of the people and the general welfare of the State."). Therefore, it is a basic tenet of statutory construction that courts are "constrained to avoid a construction that would result in unreasonable, harsh, or absurd consequences." *Thompson v. State*, 695 So. 2d 691, 693 (Fla. 1997).

In accordance with these tenets of statutory interpretation, it is wellestablished by this Court that statutory language, however plain it may appear, should not be examined in isolation. Rather, the contested provision must be read in its entirety and in the greater context of the statutory chapter in which it has been placed. *Fla. Dep't of Envtl. Prot. v. ContractPoint Fla. Parks, LLC*, 986 So. 2d 1260, 1265-66 (Fla. 2008); *see also Trinidad v. Fla. Peninsula Ins. Co.*, 121 So. 3d 433, 440 (Fla. 2013) ("It is generally accepted that courts are required to 'give full effect to all statutory provisions and construe related statutory provisions in harmony with one another."") (quoting *Heart of Adoptions, Inc. v. J.A.*, 963 So. 2d 189, 199 (Fla. 2007)); *State ex rel. Pittman v. Stanjeski*, 562 So. 2d 673, 678 (Fla. 1990) ("emphasiz[ing]," in its statutory construction, that the statute at issue was "just one part of the overall scheme for the collection of [child] support.").

When a statutory provision is examined in context, it may become apparent that although not expressly stated in that particular provision, certain requirements are implicitly present. This is true even if the plain language appears unambiguous. For example, in *Thompson v. State*, 695 So. 2d 691 (Fla. 1997), this Court held that a statutory subsection "implicitly required a factual finding that the defendant [charged with attempted murder of a law enforcement officer] had knowledge of the victim's status." *Id.* at 693. Although no knowledge

8

requirement was specified by the challenged provision and the express language was plain, the Court held that the requirement was nonetheless present because: (1) knowledge was expressly required to be charged with an assault or battery of a law enforcement officer and it would be "illogical and unreasonable" not to require the same for attempted murder; (2) attempted crimes implicate a knowledge requirement, and (3) "the prosecution could not show that the motivation for the attempt was related to the officer's lawful duties unless the prosecution could also show the defendant knew the victim was an officer who has lawful duties." Id. at 692-93. It has long been the position of this Court that "[t]he implications and intendments of a statute are as effective as are the express provisions." Cassady v. Sholtz, 169 So. 487, 490 (Fla. 1936); see also Jones v. Rath Packing, 430 U.S. 519, 525 (1977) (explaining that legislative intent may be "explicitly stated in the statute's language or implicitly contained in its structure and purpose.").

The ability of a Court to imply certain requirements as inherent in a statute based on its greater context comports with the Court's "obligation to give a statute a constitutional construction where such construction is possible." *Tyne v. Time Warner Entmt. Co.*, 901 So. 2d 802, 809 (Fla. 2005) (citing multiple cases). When multiple interpretations are possible, and a strict, literal construction would deprive an individual of a basic due process right (e.g., right to a hearing prior to entry of a judgment), this Court has opted for a broader reading. *See, e.g., Stanjeski*, 562 So. 2d at 678-79 (construing the ability of a child support obligor to file a "response" to a notice of delinquent payment before the court enters "a final judgment by operation of law," to "necessarily include an opportunity for a hearing" although no such opportunity is expressly set forth in the statute).

Thus, consistent with the federal district court's decision, the burdens for ongoing review of involuntary admissions to residential services under section 393.11, Florida Statutes, may be implicit. Indeed, as discussed below, such obligations are implicitly contained within the statutory scheme. In particular, they are contained within section 393.0651, Florida Statutes, which outlines the nature and creation of the individual "support plans" that guide the services—both residential and vocational—that are provided to APD's clients with developmental disabilities.

II. The Eleventh Circuit's Three Questions Should All Be Returned with Affirmative Answers.

A. Support Plan Review under § 393.0651, Florida Statutes, Requires Annual Evaluation of a Non-Secure Involuntary Admission.

The Eleventh Circuit's first question asks whether the "support plan" review provided in section 393.0651 "require[s APD] to consider the propriety of a continued involuntary admission to residential services order entered under Fla. Stat. 393.11." The statutory support plan review and revision requirements of that section, combined with the Chapter's legislative intent, reveal that the Eleventh Circuit's question should be answered affirmatively.

The Legislature's intent with regard to the provision of state services to persons with developmental disabilities is plain. The goal of the statutory scheme is to prevent and reduce the severity of such disabilities so that these individuals can live "a dignified life in the least restrictive setting, be that in the home or in the community." § 393.0651, Fla. Stat. The Legislature intended APD to assist individuals only to the extent the individuals need assistance and only so long as they require assistance. As set forth in its "legislative findings and declaration of intent":

[T]he greatest priority shall be given to the development and implementation of community-based services that will enable individuals with developmental disabilities *to achieve their greatest potential for independent and productive living*, enable them to live in their own homes or in residences located in their own communities, and permit them to be diverted or removed from unnecessary institutional placements.

Id. § 393.062.⁴ Once a person is admitted to residential services—whether voluntarily or involuntarily— the statutorily required support plan ensures that the Legislature's intent is fulfilled.

To involuntarily admit a person to APD's residential services, a circuit court must make three findings. First, the court must find that the person "is intellectually disabled or autistic." *Id.* § 393.11(8)(b)(1). Second, the court must

⁴ All emphasis is added unless otherwise noted.

find that "placement in a residential setting is the least restrictive and most appropriate alternative to meet the person's needs." *Id.* § 393.11(8)(b)(2). And third, the court must find that the person either "lacks sufficient capacity to give express and informed consent to a voluntary application for services . . . and lacks basic survival and self-care skills to such a degree that close supervision and habilitation in a residential setting is necessary and, if not provided, would result in a real and present threat of substantial harm to the person's well-being" or "is likely to physically injure others if allowed to remain at liberty." *Id.* § 393.11(8)(b)(3). Without the presence of these three factors, involuntary admission is inappropriate. *Id.* § 393.11(8)(c).

Within 45 days of a court's order of involuntary admission, APD must develop the client's support plan. *Id.* § 393.11(8)(e). Consistent with Chapter 393's objective, the purpose of the support plan is to "provide the most appropriate level of care" "within the specification of needs and services for each client." *Id.* § 393.0651. Section 393.0651 mandates that a client's support planning team "identify measurable objectives for client progress" and "specify a time period expected for achievement of each objective." *Id.* § 393.0651(6). The support planning team includes mental health professionals, such as the residential facility's administrator and the client's certified behavior analyst ("CBA"), as well as the client's individual support coordinator.⁵ *Id.* § 393.0651(5)-(7); *see also* Doc. 46-3, ¶¶ 17-18 (CBA provides recommendations to the support coordinator concerning the propriety of a client's ongoing residential placement). Critically for the question certified to this Court, the support plan *must* be reviewed and revised annually. *Id.* § 393.0651(7) (the support planning team "shall review progress in achieving the [plan's] objectives . . . and shall revise the plan annually").

The annual support plan review ensures that an involuntary admission to residential services is periodically reviewed so that it only continues in a constitutionally permissible manner. *Cf. O'Connor v. Donaldson*, 422 U.S. 563, 574-75 (1975) ("even if [the plaintiff's] involuntary confinement was initially permissible, it could not constitutionally continue after that basis no longer existed."). Each prong of the involuntary commitment standard is addressed each year, as it would logically and obviously have to be in a progress plan designed specifically to address that particular client's objectives during admission.

⁵ A support coordinator is a person "designated by [APD] to assist individuals and families in identifying their capacities, needs, and resources, as well as finding and gaining access to necessary supports and services; coordinating the delivery of supports and services; advocating on behalf of the individual and family; maintaining relevant records; and monitoring and evaluating the delivery of supports and services to determine the extent to which they meet the needs and expectations identified by the individual, family, and others who participated in the development of the support plan." § 393.063(37), Fla. Stat.

With regard to the first factor for continuing an involuntary admission, that the person be intellectually disabled or autistic, this factor is unlikely to change if found to be present. § 393.063, Fla. Stat. (developmental and intellectual disabilities can "reasonably be expected to continue indefinitely"); *see also* Fla. Admin. Code r. 65G-4.014 (defining various developmental disabilities as having a continuous presence and indefinite duration). Nonetheless, if the client's intellectual disability improved, the client's support planning team would have to account for this in determining the continuing propriety of a residential placement. Indeed, consistent with the second prong of the circuit court's findings, the support plan "**must include** the most appropriate, least restrictive, and most cost-beneficial environment for accomplishment of the objectives for client progress and a specification of all services authorized." § 393.0651, Fla. Stat.⁶

Similarly, with regard to the third prong, as a client becomes more proficient at self-care and less likely to injure himself or others, the client would move to less restrictive facilities. Indeed, because the support plan is individually tailored to the "accomplishment of the objectives for client progress," support plans for an involuntarily committed client would necessarily reflect the objective that the

⁶ The statute lists six types of residential facilities in which placement is possible, and requires that they be considered in reverse order of restrictiveness. § 393.0651(5), Fla. Stat. The least restrictive, and thus the goal, is the "client's own home or the home of a family member or direct service provider." *Id.*

client no longer poses a harm to himself or to others. Progress, naturally, is made in incremental steps, consistent with graduating to incrementally less restrictive facilities. Just because a client is able to relocate to a less restrictive facility does not mean that the client no longer poses a danger to himself or society. (*See, e.g.*, Doc. 41-5, p. 40 (finding this to be the case for Plaintiff).) Indeed, Plaintiff recently moved to a less restrictive facility but acknowledges he is not ready to end his involuntary commitment. (Op. 20 n.8.)

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